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1. Name of Property
historic name  Central Citv-Black Hawk Historic District .
other names/site number

2. Location

street & number Colorado Highway 119 and 279 L_Jnot for publication
city, town Central City, Black Hawk and Nevadville | X] vicinity
state Colorado  code CO county Gilpin code 047 zip code 80427 & 80411
3. Classification
Ownership of Property Category of Property Number of Resources within Property
private [ building(s) Contributing Noncontributing
public-local district 401 59 _ buildings
(] public-State [Isite 10 O sites
[ 1 public-Federal [ structure 0 17 _ structures

[ Jobject 3 O objects

414 76 Total
Name of related muitiple property listing: Number of contributing resources previously
N/A listed in the National Register

4. State/Federal Agency Certification

As the designated authority under the Nationai Historic Preservation Act of 1966, as amended, | heraby certify that this

nomination [ request for determination of eligibility meets the documentation standards for registering properties in the
National Register of Historic Places and meets the procedural and professional requirements set forth in 36 CFR Part 60.
In my opinion, the property [“Imeets [_]does not meet the National Register criteria. See continuation sheet.

Signature of cenrtifying official Date

State or Federal agency and bureau

In my opinion, the property [Imeets [_ldoes not meet the National Register criteria. [ see continuation sheet.

Signature of commenting or other official Date

State or Federal agency and bureau

5. National Park Service Certification
I, hereby, certify that this property is:

[lentered in the National Register.
[:] See continuation sheet.

[:]determined eligible for the National
Register. ] See continuation sheet.

[___]determined not eligible for the
National Register.

[_Jremoved from the National Register.
[:]other. (explain:)

Signature of the Keeper Date of Action



6. Function or Use

Historic Functions (enter categories from instructions) Current Functions (enter categories from instructions)
See Continuation Sheet See Continuation Sheet
"A" " Bll

7. Description

Architectural Classification Materials (enter categories from instructions)
(enter categories from instructions)

foundation _otone: Granite

N/A walls Wood: Weatherboard
Brick
roof Asphalt
other Wood

Metal: Cast iron

Describe present and historic physical appearance.

The Central City-Black Hawk National Historic Landmark (NHL) district is
comprised of the three towns of Black Hawk, Central City, and Nevadaville,
located 35 miles west of Denver in Gilpin County, Colorado, through Clear
Creek Canyon in the foothills of the eastern slope of the Rocky Mountains.
Black Hawk is the first of the three towns reached on the transportation
route from the eastern Plains. It is located directly adjacent to Central
City at the point where Gregory Gulch empties into North Clear Creek, at an
altitude of approximately 8 to 9,000 feet. Black Hawk, Central City, and
Nevadaville are connected by Gregory and Nevada Streets, which run along the
bottom of Gregory and Nevada Gulches with little intrusion by modern
structures,

The NHL district falls under the NHL theme of Westward Expansion of the
British Colonies and the United States, 1763-1898; The Mining Frontier in
the Rockies: Colorado and Wyoming. The district is nationally significant
under Criterion A for its association with events critical in the settlement
of the Rocky Mountain and Intermountain West. The three mining communities
in the district sprang up near the gold discovery of John S. Gregory
beginning in 1859. As the site of the first and most productive gold mines
in the vast, arid intermountain region of the western United States, from
the Rocky Mountains to the Sierra Nevada and Cascade Mountain ranges, it was
the scene of the first large population movement to the area. The district
economy sustained regional socioceconomic development from 1859 through 1893,
when its production was surpassed by other mining areas.

The towns of Central City and Black Hawk retain an exceptional degree of
their historic appearance and architectural integrity, and are also
nationally significant under Criterion C for their representation of the
"boom town" era of frontier urban expansion. Street patterns and hundreds
of buildings give an accurate picture of the relationship between

[X]see continuation sheet



8. Statement of Significance

Certifying official has considered the significance of this property in relation to other properties:
[X] nationally [ ]statewide [ Jocatly

Applicable National Register Criteria [XIA [18 [x]c DD NHL Criteria 1, 4
Criteria Considerations (Exceptions) [ JA [ 18 [ Jc [Jo [Je [JF e

Areas of Significance (enter categories from instructions) Period of Significance Significant Dates
Architecture 1859-1918 N/A

Exploration/Settlement

Community Plamning and Development

Commercial
Ethnic Heritage——Furopean Cultural Affiliation
Industry N/A
Social History
Invention
Significant Person Architect/Builder
N/A N/A e

State significance of property, and justify criteria, criteria considerations, and areas and periods_of significance potad above.
gI. CONTFB(T? yCentrl:alfyCity-Black Hawk National l-listorls.jcp Landmar% ;)cistr{‘ct as

a Prototypical Settlement of the Rocky Mountain Mining Frontier, 1859-1918

Central City, Black Hawk, and Nevadaville are the three principal
settlements of the historic Gregory mining district in Gilpin County,
Colorado. During the heyday of mining in the Gregory district numerous
frontier communities filled tiny Gilpin County. Most were short-lived,
disappearing almost overnight as miners moved on to more lucrative mines or
they merged with their more prosperous neighbors. The towns of Central
City, Black Hawk and Nevadaville survived and became the county's primary
towns. They are located on the eastern slope of the Rocky Mountains 35
miles west of Denver, at an altitude of approximately 8,000 to 9,000 feet.
The three towns and surrounding area are significant under the National
Historic Landmark theme of X. Westward Expansion of the British Colonies and
the United States, 1763-1898; E. The Mining Frontier; 5. The Rockies:
Colorado and Wyoming. The historic district is eligible for nomination as a
National Historic Landmark (NHL) District under Criterion 1 for its
association with events of national importance in the settlement and
industrialization of the American West. The district’s period of historic
significance began with its founding as a group of chaotic gold boom camps
in 1859 and closed in 1918 with a final dramatic decline in mining activity.
During this time, the district communities evolved for half a century into
mature industrial towns that were prototypes for the rapid urbanization on
the western mining frontier. These towns were unique as the first large
settlements in the arid Rocky Mountain region of the western United States
and in the spectacular gold output from their surrounding mines. Early
placer mining was "played out" within 5 years of the first gold discovery in
the area and replaced by the technological complexities and high investment
of lode or hard-rock mining. Yet the initial placer strikes attracted an
estimated 100,000 prospectors and settlers into the region that now includes

[x]see continuation sheet



9. Major Elbllographlcal References

Previous documentation on file (NPS):

Dprelimlnary determination of individual listing (36 CFR 67)
has been requested

Dpreviously listed in the National Register

Dpreviously determined eligible by the National Register

[X] designated a National Historic Landmark

[Jrecorded by Historic American Buildings
Survey #

[ Jrecorded by Historic American Engineering
Record #

See continuation sheet

Primary location of additional data:

[ state historic preservation office

] other State agency

B{] Federal agency

[ Local government

D University

[lother

Specify repository:

Nationa Pa& Service, Rocky Mountain
Regional Office, Div. of Cultural Resources

10. Geographical Data

Acreage of property 280.5

UTM References
N T O R T O T L
Zone  Easting Northing

(o7 I I I T T I T O B

70 T O T IR A I I A

Zone Easting . Northing

[» 30 I T I O R I T O

See continuation sheet

Verbal Boundary Description

[X] See continuation sheet

Boundary Justification

[(X] see continuation sheet

11. Form Prepared By

nameltitle RLckey L. Hendricks, Historian and Julie A. Corona, Historian

organization National Park Service, RMRO

dateJuly 1987; revised April 1990

street & number £-0. Box 25287

telephone (303) 969-2875

city or town Denver,

state _CO zip code 80225-0287

*U.S.GPO:1988-0-223-918
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A. Historic Functions

Domestic: Single

Commerce/Trade: Specialty Store
Social: Meeting Hall

Commerce/Trade: Warehouse

Domestic: Hotel

Government: City Hall

Religious: Religious Structure
Funerary: Cemetery

Government: Courthouse

10. Industry/Extraction: Waterworks

11. Recreation and Culture: Music Facility
12. Education: School

13. Transportation: Rail-Related

14. Commerce/Trade: Financial Institution

O oo~y &~ W=

B. Current Functions

1. Domestic: Single

2. Commerce/Trade: Department Store

3. Commerce/Trade: Restaurant

4. Recreation and Culture: Museum

5. Recreation and Culture: Music Facility
6. Government: Courthouse

7. Government: City Hall

8. Domestic: Hotel

9. Funerary: Cemetery
10. Religjous: Religious Structure
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commercial, residential, and socio-institutional divisions of the two
communities. Above Central City, Nevadaville (or Nevada City) is reached by
Nevada Street up the narrow Nevada Gulch Valley. While mining activity
expanded around Central City and Nevadaville, Black Hawk emerged as the
processing and transportation center of the district. Thus the communities
were economically as well as socially interdependent. The 20 remaining
buildings at Nevadaville give but a glimpse of the historic town. However,
taken together, the three towns still physically illustrate the social and
economic interrelationship between the three principal settlements of the
Gregory mining district. At the peak of mining activity, they formed "an
almost continuous line of buildings, mines, and cabins crowded together and
forming an irregular, linear community."!

Major town building in Black Hawk and Central City was simultaneous, in the
same configuration, with streets following the topography of the gulches
that cut into the steep mountainous terrain, rather than the traditional
grid pattern followed by other new towns built on flatter terrain.? Streets
run, as they did historically, on either side of the creek banks and
precipitously along the hillsides above. Lawrence, Eureka, Gregory, Spring,
Nevada, and Main Streets follow the creek at the bottom of steep Gregory
Gulch, which branches into Eureka and Nevada Gulches. Streets laid out
parallel to these followed the contours of the surrounding hillsides.
Access to them is by steep cross streets and alleyways with wooden stairs.
By the mid 1860s, Lawrence Street on either side of its intersection with
Main Street was solidly built up as the main commercial thoroughfare in
Central City, as was Gregory Street from its intersection with Main Street
in Black Hawk. Most town lots were platted approximately 25 feet wide and
75 feet deep, though with the irregularity of the topography, dimensions
varied considerably. A highly distinctive feature of both Black Hawk and
Central City is the patchwork of mortarless stone retaining walls that wind
throughout the residential areas. The walls are considered an illustration
of the stone masonry skills of the Cornish miners. The rugged topography
necessitated this stone wall terracing to enable building construction in
the crowded and compact spaces of the gulches and on the hillsides.

With rare exceptions, the majority of buildings listed as contributing to
the NHL district are vernacular rather than high style designs, reflecting
local taste, custom, and available materials. The commercial districts of
Black Hawk and Central City are built as tightly-packed, contiguous
buildings, many sharing common walls. The stylistic influence most
prevalent in the commercial and public architecture of the district is
Italianate, with some Romanesque Revival and Gothic Revival influence as



NPS Form 10-000-a OMB Approvel No. 1024-0018
(8-06)

United States Department of the interior
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places
Continuation Sheet

Section number _7  Page _3

well. There are two examples of domestic architecture (C23-7, C39-10) and
one social building (Opera House, C23-1) that imitate the Second Empire
style in Central City. While most of the domestic buildings are a simple
vernacular type with a rectangular plan and intersecting gable roof, often
interesting and popular elements were added. These included Gothic Revival
details such as ornamental bargeboards, carved porch details, and steeply
pitched roofs, and Greek Revival features such as simple wood columns with
capitals and wood window and door pediments. A few of the elite homes were
decidedly influenced by the Italianate style.

The present appearance of the NHL district differs from that of the historic
period in two major respects. First, many structures and buildings have
disappeared since 1918. A continuous strip of buildings and mining
structures connected the towns during the historic period. Now hundreds of
the original residential and industrial structures are gone or in ruins.
Many were abandoned or dismantled during the 1920s and 1930s to rid owners
of tax liabilities and so owners could use the building material for
reconstruction in Denver or elsewhere. Little 1860s architecture of any
type remains in Central City; much more is intact in Black Hawk. The other
main visual change from the historic appearance of the district is the
natural landscape. Reforestation since the cessation of mining activity in
the late 1910s and the absence of the pollution, caused especially by the
Black Hawk smelters, has partly returned the natural environment to its
state before the influx of eager prospectors and entrepreneurs,

METHODOLOGY

All buildings, structures, sites, and major objects in the three towns that
comprise the historic district were surveyed by staff members of the
National Park Service, Rocky Mountain Regional Office, Division of Cultural
Resources, and four students from the history programs at the University of
Colorado at Denver and Metropolitan State College. The primary surveyors
were Julie Corona and Rickey Hendricks, assisted by Suzanne Evans and Mary
Pat Kisling, all of the Regional Office staff. Suzanne Evans designed an
architectural survey form specific to the information needed for a precise
and accurate recording of contributing and non-contributing buildings of the
NHL district and drew the site map of Central City. Julie Corona designed
the form for recording mine sites and structures. Information recorded on
the forms was gathered by a field survey of every building, structure, and
site in the proposed historic district, by research in the Gilpin County Tax
Assessor’'s Office files, Colorado State Historic Preservation Office files,
other primary source references such as newspaper and contemporary



NPS Form 10-000-a OMB Approvel No. 1024-0018
(8-08)

United States Department of the interior
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places
Continuation Sheet

Sectonnumber __7  Page __4

observations, maps, and photographs from the Colorado Historical Society
Library and the Western History Department of the Denver Public Library.

The final survey forms contain location by block, lot and address,
construction date, historic and current use, condition, alterations that
might affect integrity, a drawing of the outside dimensions of each
building, an architectural description, a statement of significance when the
history of a specific building, structure or site is known, and a current
photograph. A determination of whether or not a building, structure, or
site is contributing to the district was made from this information. The
historic resources of the NHL district were determined to be contributing if
they were constructed within the period of national historic significance
from 1859-1918 and if they retained their historic structural and
architectural integrity. Those buildings and structures classified as
"ruins" that do not possess a sufficient degree of their historic integrity
to retain their historic association were classified as non-contributing.
Likewise, buildings from the historic period so substantially altered that
their original architectural integrity is seriously damaged or destroyed are
not considered contributing.

Assignment of Log Numbers and Site Maps

A log number, such as, Cl12-5, is assigned to each building, structure or
site and gives three pieces of information about the property. It indicates
town, block number, and location within the block relative to the other
contributing properties. The letter "C" denotes Central City, "B" Black
Hawk, and "N" Nevadaville. The block number for properties in Central City
and Black Hawk was determined from the official town plat for each
community. In those cases where the property is not located within the
official town plat no block number could be assigned so a letter or letters
were assigned which relate the property to its geographical location. The
letters assigned for properties in Central City and their location were:
EG=Eureka Gulch; N=Negro Hill; G=Gunnel Hill; B= Bates Hill; and P=Prosser
Gulch. In Black Hawk the letters utilized were: CG=Chase Gulch;
GR=Gregory Street; and CH=Central Hill. Nevadaville properties are not
listed by blocks. As there are so few buildings remaining these are
numbered according to a historic site map of the town. The third element of
the log number indicates the sequence of the property within the block. The
contributing elements are assigned a sequential number beginning with the
property located on lot one or the lowest lot number with a contributing
structure. For example Cl-8 is Central City, Block 1, the eighth
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contributing building in Block 1. Noncontributing properties are denoted by
the use of the letter N, instead of a sequential number. In the case of a
block with more than one noncontributing element then a number follows the

letter. Log number B46-N2 identifies the second noncontributing structure
in Block 46, in Black Hawk. The log numbers for the ten sites in the
district include a letter "S". CG-S1 is the log number for the St. Aloysius

Academy Site located in Central City, on Gunnel Hill and is the first site
in the district. A particular property can be located on the appropriate

town site map by locating the block, as identified in the log number, and

then matching the location number in the log number with the number shown

for each structure on the site map. As well as being the key to the town

site maps the log numbers also index the survey.

Buildings, structures, sites, and objects contributing to the NHL district
are organized below by type, town, and date of construction. Within each
category structures are listed chronologically by their date of
construction. Any buildings sharing the same year of construction are then
listed in numerical order by log number. Location within each town,
historic name if known, building style and material, and historic function
also are listed. Almost all buildings are vernacular, but many have
distinctive stylistic features. The use of the term "vernacular" has
therefore been omitted from the listing. Any building with no style listed
is considered simple vernacular; if it is vernacular with definite stylistic
features, only those features have been indicated by, for example, "w/Ital"
or "w/Goth Rev." Within the domestic category, all structures served as
residences, thus this is not indicated in the listing. All non-contributing
elements in the NHL district are listed separately from contributing
resources.

I. Contributing Commercial Buildings

The surviving architecture of the NHL district illustrates the successive
stages typical of Western mining town architecture, from the earliest simple
wood frame structures of the first decade, through the more elaborate and
permanent masonry construction that came later with economic prosperity and
optimism that the town’s future growth was assured. Of the three towns of
the Central City-Black Hawk District, only Black Hawk retains a significant
number of the earliest wood frame commercial buildings typical of the first
architectural phase. A devastating fire in 1874 destroyed most of the 1860s
commercial district of Central City, as well as about 20 percent of its
residential buildings. A series of fires occurred in Nevadaville, the first
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in November 1861, destroying most of the early buildings. The 1860s
buildings that remain in Black Hawk are narrow, rectangular plan, two-story
buildings with false fronts, some with bracketed wood entablatures, walls
covered with horizontal wood siding, plain rectangular double-hung wood sash
windows, and shed roofs. There was little adornment on these early
buildings, except bracketed entablatures and occasional small window
pediments. Usually they were clustered into tightly-knit units to convey
the appearance of a rudimentary "cityscape" in sparsely populated frontier
areas.

Masonry buildings also remain from the late 1860s and 1870s, representing
the second or "town" phase of mining town development.’ These generally
have brick facades, some with stone walls on the side and rear elevations.
As these replaced the wooden buildings, they too were built contiguously to
create a more sophisticated urban landscape, most sharing common walls with
adjacent buildings. Like the wood frame buildings, they generally are
vernacular rather than high style, but with Italianate elements. These
elements include ornate storefronts with iron columns, bracketed
entablatures, and tall rectangular windows with high round arches, some with
radiating voussoirs and keystones and some with multi-paned tracery windows.
Elaborate corbeled entablatures on some buildings also were influenced by
Queen Anne style brick work. Italianate iron entablatures were more
elaborate with a deep overhang and scrolled brackets. The buildings housed a
variety of shops and offices to serve the mining community and typically had
living quarters and offices on the second story. In Central City, the 150-
room Teller House (C23-3) was the most important building erected prior to
the fire of 1874, and it symbolized the economic optimism of the decade.

On May 21, 1874, almost the entire town of Central City was destroyed by
fire. After destroying the frame shanties around Spring Street, the fire
spread to Main on both sides down to Lawrence and Eureka where the Register
Building stopped it on one side of the street and the Teller House on the
other. On Main, the fireproof Roworth Block (Cl-8) was the only one to
escape destruction; on Lawrence, the Raynolds Building, also known as
Raynold’s Beehive, (C4-13), which is often credited with stopping the fire,
survived.

Most of the extant commercial district in Central City was constructed of
brick or stone in the years immediately following the fire of 1874.
Distinctive architectural features include the same corbeled entablatures
and round arches of the previous decade, but there is much greater variation
in detail. Round arched windows were given more elaborate hood molds, and
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the segmental arch with elaborate label molds with keystones was used on the
second story of buildings. The Gilpin Hotel (B35-6) in Black Hawk, built in
1870, was the first distinctive structure there incorporating the segmental
arch and label mold. Most 1870s buildings in Central City and Black Hawk
have a combination of round arched entries and windows on the first story,
with segmental arches on the second story. Corbeled entablatures are more
elaborate than the pre-fire period, and many buildings have wide iron
entablatures. These and other elements often imitate the Italianate style.
Secondary entablatures cap most of the full storefronts, which also have
large plate glass windows with kickplates and decorative iron columns.

Almost all of the commercial structures in Black Hawk and Central City were
built prior to the decade of the 1880s, many in the late 1870s. There are
several smaller buildings in Central City, however, built in the late 1880s
and early 1890s. Most of the extant historic buildings in Nevadaville date
from this period. Nevadaville was practically deserted after the depression
of 1893 but then experienced a revival in the late 1890s.

II. Contributing Social, Educational, Religious, and Government Buildings

As with regard to commercial buildings, Black Hawk has the largest existing
number of social and govermment buildings constructed in the 1860s. 1In all
three towns, fraternal lodge meeting halls, town halls, and post offices
usually were combined in the same building with commercial enterprises, and
the architectural style of buildings designed for these public functions was
similar in style, material, and shared location to other buildings in the
commercial district.

Washington Hall (C5-3), the primary public building of the embryonic
community of Central City, is striking in its vernacular simplicity. Begun
as a log structure in 1861, the wood siding was added in 1864. The Gregory
Miner'’s Court and then the first Territorial District Court convened there.
It housed the county offices and jails, and various religious congregations
used its courtroom as a meeting hall until they built their own edifices.
Today it is used as City Hall and the Gilpin County Art Association Gallery.
Though City Hall (N-18) in Nevadaville has an estimated date of construction
of 1870, its simple vernacular style and wood frame construction indicates
it could have been built earlier. Other public buildings and lodge halls of
the 1860s usually are brick and/or stone and are generally vernacular with
Italianate elements, including tall rectangular windows with high circular
arches and bracketed entablatures. Churches and schools have a more
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distinctive style than the other types of social buildings. The massive
stone 01d High School (C7-10) and Register-Call Building (C4-1) with high
arched windows and entrances are vernacular with Romanesque Revival
elements. Churches built before the 1870s either are brick and wood frame,
or a combination of the two, and are of a predominantly Gothic Revival
style. The Clarke Elementary School (C4-14) and Gilpin County Courthouse
(C11-2), both built in 1900, are Italian Villa style.

The Presbyterian and Methodist congregations met in Washington Hall during
the 1860s. The first permanent church in the area was the wood frame
Presbyterian Church (B25-5) in Black Hawk, completed in 1863. 1In 1906, the
building was purchased by the Black Hawk school board and converted for use
as a gymnasium. It has fallen into disuse but occasionally serves as a town
social hall. The Methodists began construction on their brick building (C5-
6) when the cornerstone was laid in 1864, but because of lack of funds it
was not completed until 1871.* Both churches have simple Gothic Revival
elements.

ITI. Contributing Domestic Buildings

Like the commercial and public architecture of the historic district,
domestic architecture likewise shows distinctive evolutionary stages. Few
residential structures remain in the district from the 1860s because of the
lack of care and less permanent materials used in their construction, though
one small wood frame house dates to 1859. Men with families were motivated
to build more substantial houses than were transient prospectors who took
time to construct only the most primitive shelter. But there were few women
and children in the early years of settlement. Also, Indian attacks on the
Plains interrupted supply lines, and sophisticated construction material was
unavailable. As transportation improved and community stability was
attained, better craftsmanship, better material, and the elaborate
decorative elements brought in by the railroad, such as carved ornamentation
for houses and iron fronts for commercial buildings, brought maturity to the
construction trade in the three towns of the Gregory mining district. An
1870 delinquent tax list showed a number of log structures in Central City
and Black Hawk. By the following decade, most of these had disappeared, and
more substantial buildings dominated the architectural landscape as families
were formed or the miners’ and businessmen’s affluence grew.
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Economic stratification was evident as early as the 1870s in residential
sections of the mining towns. The fire of 1874 in Central City destroyed
about 20 percent of the residential area, and wealthy businessmen rebuilt
their homes to reflect their wealth and position in the community. Those
who could afford it used brick in construction. According to the tax
records, no residential buildings remain in Black Hawk from the 1870s,
though historic photographs shed doubt on the accuracy of these records.
Those remaining in Central City are concentrated on Eureka, East High, West
High, and Lawrence Streets. Six of these are brick (C7-8, Cll-4, Cl2-1,
Cl2-5, €55-1, C28-5) and four introduce Italianate elements to residential
architecture (C8-4, Cl2-1, Cll-4, C28-5). Other 1870s buildings are wood
frame vernacular, some with simple Greek Revival elements such as wood
pediments over doors and windows, pilaster cornerboards, sidelights,
returns, and full entablatures.

The 1880s was the high point of economic prosperity in the three communities
of the mining district. Gilpin County led the State in gold production
until 1893, and building during this period reflected the continued optimism
of economic prosperity, primarily in residential construction. While there
was little new commercial or other building, new residential building boomed
into the early 1890s. Most all of the existing residential buildings in
Nevadaville that date from the historic period were built in the 1880s and
1890s. Homes built in Central City were larger and with more attention to
architectural details than in previous decades; more construction was brick
or stone. There was a variety of architectural styles employed, with Greek
Revival and Gothic Revival the most popular. There are also examples of
Italianate, Romanesque Revival, Second Empire and Federal styles. The
concentration of less affluent miners in Black Hawk and Nevdaville accounts
for the fact that the vernacular cottage was more prevalent there than any
distinctive styles.

The steep decline in Gilpin County mining brought residential construction
to a near halt after 1890, until increased yield in the mines between 1897
and 1899 led to a slight resurgence in home construction. Those few
structures that were built between 1891 and 1899 were a mixture of wood
frame, brick, and stone. Though they still demonstrated the careful
craftsmanship of the homes built in the boom period of the 1880s, the homes
built in the mid to late 1890s are a much simpler vernacular, lacking the
stylistic elements seen earlier. Tax records show a major building boom in
1900 in domestic construction, particularly in Black Hawk. Though this may
be due to the increased yield of the mines from 1897 to 1899, the large
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number of buildings with 1900 construction dates may also be the result of
inaccurate recording.®

IV. Contributing Mining and Industrial Buildings and Structures

There are a variety of mining and industrial buildings, structures, and
sites in and around the three towns of the historic district, but most are
ruins and considered non-contributing individually. For mining operations,
these include tailings, collapsed mining structures such as shafthouses, ore
loaders and bins, cribbing, and wood frame buildings; in addition, there
remains evidence of ore processing and other industrial components of the
total mining operation of the district. Cuts and trestle ruins for the
Colorado Central Railroad (BM-S6) and Gilpin Tramway (BCG-S7) are visible on
the mountainsides surrounding the district, as well as the roofless stone
walls of several millsites. Those ruins and remains inside the NHL district
boundaries as indicated on the U.S5.G.S. map and in the boundary description
are a graphic record of the massive technology and natural resource
exploitation that was the economic base and reason for existence of the
historic mining district. Therefore, these ruins and remains contribute to
the historic association and visible historic environment even though they
are not identifiable as discrete structures and sites.

Several significant industrial structures other than those connected to
mining operations remain in Central City. These include the ruins of the
McFarlane Foundry (C25-R), built in 1861 as the oldest foundry and machine
shop in Colorado, Mack's Rocky Mountain Brewery (CEG-R) dating from the mid
1870s, and the two historic city reservoirs (CEG-2, CG-1) from the mid
1880s.

V. Contributing Sites and Objects

Sites and objects that contribute to the Central City-Black Hawk NHL
district include several sites with monuments (CG-S1, CG-S9, CGR-S8, C23-S5)
erected by area residents to commemorate events significant in the historic
development of the district, and/or sites (CG-R, BM-S6) on which there are
sufficient remains of historic activity to illustrate this development.

Also included are six cemeteries located west of Central City (CN-S2, CEG-
S3, CEG-S4, CN-S10 and CN-S11) which provide a record of town citizens as
well as being a vital part of the functioning community in the historic
period.
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VI. Non-Contributing Buildings and Structures

Non-contributing buildings, structures, sites, and objects, are those that
have lost their architectural or structural integrity due to deterioration
or extensive alteration after the historic period, and those constructed or
placed outside the period of significance from 1859-1918. Mining,
industrial, and other structures that are both deteriorated and
geographically remote also are non-contributing to the NHL district. Mining
and industrial objects, remains, and sites are not considered contributing
if they have lost so much of their structural integrity that they can no

longer sucessfully illustrate the mining and milling processes of which they
were a part.
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ENDNOTES

!Bayard Taylor quoted in John W. Reps, Cities of the American West: A
History of Frontier Urban Planning (Princeton, New Jersey: Princeton
University Press, 1979), 466.

2This is an abstract of Reps’ description of the Central City topography,
466-471.

3The conceptual framework for the "camp" and "town" phases of mining town
evolution was developed by Duane A. Smith, Rocky Mountain Mining Camps: The
Urban Frontier (Bloomington, Indiana: Indiana University Press, 1967), and
was further applied to architecture in Colorado mining towns by Eric C.

Stoehr, Bonanza Victorian: Architecture and Society in Colorado Mining
Towns (Albuquerque, New Mexico: University of New Mexico Press, 1975).

*Much of the general descriptions of building functions, and many dates
and events connected with Central City and Black Hawk architecture are from
Frank R. Hollenback, Central City and Black Hawk: Then and Now (Denver:
Sage Books, 1961). For Washington Hall see Liston E. Leyendecker,
Washington Hall: Gilpin County’s Oldest Courthouse (Ft. Collins, Colorado:
Colorado State University Cooperative Extension Service Historical Bulletin
No. 1, no date).

*All material on domestic architecture is taken from work by Julie A.
Corona of the NPS-RMRO staff, using an analysis of the field survey in
combination with the U.S. Census for Gilpin County, Colorado, for the years
1880 and 1900, in addition to secondary source material.
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Listing of Contributing and Noncontributing Buildings, Structures,
Sites and Objects

Log numbers are keyed to the site map.

Log No. Date Address Materials Historic Function

I. COMMERCIAL

A. Central City

1860-1869

C17-3 1860 Spring ST Potato storage,
Stone Building Jail, Warehouse

C5-2 1862 113 Eureka WF Law offices
Teller Law Office

Cl-8 1865 127 Main BR w/Ital Grocery, Hardware
Roworth Building & Ren Rev

Cl-9 1865 127 Main BR w/Ital Grocery, Hardware

& Ren Rev

Cl7-4 1868-1883 Spring BR Retail, Warehouse
Mason M. Seavy
Block

1870-1879

C25-2 c.1870 202 Eureka WF w/Gr Chinese laundry

Rev

C4-2 c.1872 107 Eureka BR Law office,
Morse Block Retail, Apts.

C23-3 1872 110 Eureka BR Hotel, Restaurant,
Teller House Barber

Cl-11 1872-1874 131 Main BR Undertaker,

Restaurant,
Saloon, Newspaper

Cl-1 1874 101 Main BR w/Ital Bank
Old First National
Bank

Cl-2 1874 103 Main BR w/Ital Billiard hall,

Schonecker & Mack

Offices, Apts
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Cl-4 1874 109 Main BR w/Ital Dry goods,

VanDeren Building

Cl-5 1874;1902 111 Main BR
Mullen Building
(Elks Lodge)

C2-1 1874 102-107 Lawrence BR w/Ital
Miller Block

C2-2 1874 102-107 Lawrence BR w/Ital
Hense Block

Cc2-3 1874 102-107 Lawrence BR w/Ital
Bacharach Block

C3-3 1874 116 Main BR w/Ital

Dostal Block

C4-3 1874 105 Eureka BR
The Pharmacy

Ch-4 1874 103 Eureka BR
Wells Fargo & Co.

C4-9 1874 110 Lawrence BR
Jenkins McKay &
Co.

C4-9 1874 110 Lawrence BR

Jenkins McKay &
Co., East wing

C4-10 1874 114 Lawrence BR
Cessario’s

Cl-6 c.1874-75 117 Main BR
Hawley Block

c2-7 c.1875 106 Main BR/ST
Hense Block w/Ital

C4-5 1875 100-101 Eureka BR

Mellor Block

Grocery, Dentist,
Western Union
Drugstore, Lodge
hall, Clothing

Retail, Grocery,
Liquor, Offices,
Apartments
Jewelry, Grocery,
Billiard hall
Wine/liquor store

Billiard parlor &
lunchroom, Bakery,
Meat Market,
Jewelry mfg.

Soda fountain,
Drugstore, Apts
Doctor’s office,
Apartments
Hardware store,
Tin & copper mfg,
Apts

See above

Saloon, Commodity
warehouse
Millinery, Tailor,
Hardware

Jewelry, Grocery,
Billiard hall

Bank, Concert
hall, Grocery,
Clothing
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Mellor Block

Cl17-1 1875 100 Spring BR
Mellor & McFarland
Bldg/Knights of
Pythias Hall

Cl-3 1875-76 105 Main BR
Harris Block
(first)

C5-1 1876 115 Eureka ST/BR
William’'s Stables

C2-5 c.1877 108 Main BR w/Ital
Harris Block
(third)

C4-6 c.1877 102 Lawrence BR w/Ital
Edmundson Block I

C3-1 1878 Main BR w/Ital
Shaffnit Block

C4-7 c.1878 104 Lawrence BR
Edmundson Block II

C18-2 1878 220 Spring BR
Central City Depot

C18-2 1878 222 Spring BR

Central City
Section House

Cl-10 c.1879 129 Main ST
Harris Block
(second)

1880-1889

C4-8 c.1880 106 & 108 Lawrence BR
(Edmundson Block
I11

C6-1 1880 161 Lawrence BR

hall, Grocery,
Clothing

Lodge hall,
Clothing, Bottling
works

Drygood,
Drugstore,
Clothing
Stable, Livery

Lodge hall,
Furniture & carpet
store

Pool hall, Meat
mkt, Candy store,
Law office,
Western Union
Meat market,
Grocery

Wine & beer est

Train depot

Section house

Undertaker, Dry
goods, Attorney

Shoe repair,
Saloon, Hotel
annex, Newspaper
plant, Tea &
coffee shop,
Apartments
Unknown
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Log No. Date Address Materials Historic Function
C23-2 c.1880 120 Eureka BR Assay office
Assay Office
Cl7-2 1886 Spring BR Warehouse
Sauer-McShane
Mercantile Company
Warehouse
C25-1 1886 200 Eureka ST Offices
Festival Hall
C41-3 1889 430 Lawrence WF w/Goth Unknown
Rev
1890-1899
C2-6 c.1890 Gregory BR Newspaper, Chamber
Dorris Building of Commerce
C3-2 1890 118-120 Main BR Bar, Grocery, Pool
Parteli Block hall
C18-1 1890 138 Spring BR/ST Warehouse
Hawley Merchandise
Warehouse
C42-2 1890 430 Gregory WF Unknown
C6-2 1891 171 Lawrence WF Unknown
1900-1918
C2-4 1900 113 Lawrence BR Livery, Blacksmith
Livery/Blacksmith
Shop
B. Black Hawk
1860-1870
B28-3 c.1860s 221 Gregory WF Shops, Doctor
B35-1 c.1860 160 Gregory BR w/Ital Retail
Rohling Building
B40-2 c.1860 120 Main WF w/Gr Livery
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Heppberger House Rev
B35-3 c.1865 120 Gregory BR w/Ital Grocery
Corner Grocery
B29-3 c.late 131 Gregory BR w/Ital Lodge hall,
1860s Golden Beer Market, Saloon,
Building Drugstore
1870-1879
B28-2 1870 231 Gregory WF Unknown
Martin Miller
Building
B35-4 1870-79 101 Main BR w/Ital Lodge hall, Liquor
Ben Olson’s store
B35-5 1870-80 101 Main BR See above
Ben Olson’'s
extension
B35-6 1870 111 Main BR/w Gr Hotel
Gilpin Hotel Rev
B29-1 c.1875 141 Gregory BR w/Ital Saloon, Offices,
Sullivan Building Apartments
B29-2 c.1875 135 Gregory BR w/Ital Grocery,
Richards Building Apartments
B29-4 c.1875 121 Gregory BR
Jenkins-McKay Hardware, Retail
Hardware shops, Apartments
B40-1 1879 100 Main BR/ST
Fick’s Carriage Blacksmith,
Shop Carriage shop
1880-1889: No structures
1890-1899
B28-4 1890 211 Gregory WF Unknown

1900-1918
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B26-8 1900 305 Gregory WF Residential
B33-1 1900 200 Gregory BR Saloon
C. Nevadaville
N-6 c.1870s Main BR unknown
N-10 c.1880 Main BR/ST unknown
N-16 unknown 16 Main BR unknown

I1. SOCIAL, EDUCATIONAL, RELIGIOUS, AND GOVERNMENT

A. Central City
1860-1869

C4-13 c.1860
C5-3 c.1860
C4-1 1861-62
C1-13 c.1864
C5-6 1864-72
Cc7-11 1869-70
1870-1879

C23-6 1872-92
Cl-15 pre 1874

132 Lawrence
Raynold’'s Beehive
117 Eureka
Washington Hall
109 Eureka
Register-Call
Building

135 Main

0ld City Hall
123 Eureka

St. James Church
226 E High

0ld High School

135 Pine
St. Mary’'s of the
Assumption

139 Main

BR

ST w/Rom
Rev

BR
ST w/Goth
Rev

ST w/Rom
Rev

ST w/Goth
Rev

BR w/Ital

Powder Co, Bank,
Misc business
Courthouse, Jail,
Public mtg hall
Newspaper, Lodge
hall, Retail
City Hall
Methodist Church

School

Catholic Church

Theater, Residence
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Beaman House/
Alhambra Theater
C1-7 1874 123 Main BR w/Ital Bookstore,
Teller Building/ Shoestore, Lodge
I.0.0.F. Hall hall
Cl-12 1874/1897 133 Main BR Retail, Lodge hall
A.0.U.W. Building
C4-11 c.1874 116 Lawrence ST/BR Retail, Grocery,
Golden Eagle w/Rom Rev Lodge hall, Colo
Building Natl Guard Hall
C4-12 1874 122 Lawrence ST Hotel office,
Granite House dining & guest
rooms, meat/
vegetable mkt.,
Apts
Cl-14 1875 139 Main BR w/Ital Theatre, Retail,
Belvidere Theatre Stable, Bottler,
Militia drills
C7-10 1876 East High ST w/Goth Episcopal Church
St. Paul’s Church Rev
€23-1 1878 124 Eureka ST w/Rom Theatre
Opera House Rev & 2nd
Emp
1880-1889 and 1890-1899: No structures
1900-1918
C4-14 1900 142 Lawrence BR w/Ital Grade School
Clarke Grade Villa
School
Cl1-2 1900 203 Eureka BR w/Ital Courthouse
Gilpin County Villa
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B. Black Hawk

1860-1869

B25-5 1863 211 Church WF w/Goth Church, School gym
Presbyterian Rev
Church Lodge hall, City

B29-5 c.1864 101 Gregory BR Hall, Saloon,
Knights of Pythias Billiards hall

B28-1 c.1865 241 Gregory ST/BR Post Office, Bank,
0ld Post Office w/Ital Lodge hall

B26-5 1869-71 331 Gregory BR w/Goth Church
Black Hawk Rev
Methodist Church

1870-1879

B25-6 1870 221 Church WF w/Gr Schoolhouse
Black Hawk School Rev

B28-5 1877 201 Gregory BR City Hall, Fire
City Hall Department

1880-1889 and 1890-1899: No structures

1900-1918

B35-2 1910 130 Gregory BR w/Ital Lodge hall

C. Nevadaville

N-18 c.1870 Main WF City Hall

N-11 1879 none BR/ST Lodge hall

Masonic Hall

ITI. DOMESTIC
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A. Central City
1859-1869
C18-3 1859 300 Spring WF
C7-6 1860 214 E High WF
C5-8 1863 E High WF
Kimball-Cozens
House
C33-1 1864 201 W 6th BR w/Goth
Kimball House Rev
C53-3 1864 245 Casey WF w/Goth
Rev
C9-1 1867 234 E High WF
C23-5 1868 125 Pine WF w/Gr
Rev
C39-11 1868 128 Casey WF w/Goth
Rev
1870-1879
C9-4 1870 310 E High WF w/Q
Anne
Cl2-4 1870 207 W High WF
C50-1 1870 532 Gregory WF w/Goth
Rev
C8-4 1872 218 Lawrence WF w/Ital
C24-5 1872 109 Spruce WF
C25-6 c.1873 222 Eureka WF
Peter McFarlane
House
Cll-4 1874 207 Eureka BR w/Ital
Cl4-11 c.1874 216 E 3rd WF
C28-5 1874 351 Eureka BR w/Ital
C55-1 1875 325 Spring BR
C7-8 1876 218 E High BR
Belford House
C29-1 1876 103 H Street WF
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C39-1 1876 100 Casey WF
C40-5 1876 320 Lawrence WF
C9-5 1877 320 E High WF w/Gr
Rev
Cl1-12 1878 223 Eureka WF w/Gr
Rev
Cl2-1 1878 201 W High BR w/Ital
Lee House
Cl1l2-3 c.1878 205 W High WF w.Gr
Rev
c28-3 1878 321 Eureka WF
Cl2-5 1879 209 W High BR w/Gr
Rev
Cl2-10 1879 221 W High WF
1880-1889
C7-2 1880 202 E High WF
C8-1 1880 210 Lawrence WF w/Goth
Rev
Cl1-3 1880 205 Eureka WF
Cll-11 c.1880 221 Eureka WF
Cl1-10 1880 225 Eureka WF
Cl2-6 1880 211 W High WF w/Gr
Rev
Cl4-6 1880 208 E 3rd WF w/Gr
Rev
C25-4 1880 208 Eureka WF
C24-6 1880 111 Spruce WF
Cl1l-1 1882 201 Eureka WF w/Gr
Rev
Cl15-3 1882 206 E 4th BR
C28-2 1882 311 Eureka WF w/Gr
Rev
Cl1-8 1884 217 Eureka WF w/Ital
Frederick

McFarlane House
C40-1 1885 127 Casey WF
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C9-3 1886 302 E High ST
Cl1-5 c.1886 209-211 Eureka WF w/Gr
Thomas Billings Rev
House
Cll-6 1886 213 Eureka WF w/Ital
Cl4-7 c.1886 213 E 3rd BR
€23-7 1886 205 Pine WF w/2nd
Emp
C24-7 1886 113 Spruce WF
C39-6 1886 110 Casey WF w/Goth
1886 250 Casey Rev
C54-5 BR w/Gr
Rev
C8-5 1887 220 Lawrence WF
Cl10-6 1887 102 E High WF
Cl1-7 1887 215 Eureka WF w/Ital
Cl1-9 1887 219 Eureka WF
Sauer House
Cl12-7 1887 215 W High WF
Cl4-5 c.1887 211 E 4th BR w/Gr
Rev
C24-1 1887 101 Spruce WF
C25-7 1887 224 Eureka WF
Kruse-Center House
C28-1 1887 301 Eureka WF W/Gr
Rev
C39-4 1887 106 Casey WF
C39-5 1887 108 Casey WF w/Goth
Rev
C39-7 1887 120 Casey WF w/Goth
Rev
C39-10 1887 126 Casey WF w/2nd
Emp
C39-13 1887 134 Casey WF
C54-2 1887 220 Casey WF
c7-3 1888 206 E High WF
C7-9 1888 220 E High WF
Cl4-4 1888 206 E 3rd BR w/Goth
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Rev
C24-3 1888 105 Spruce WF
C25-3 1888 204 Eureka WF
C40-6 1888 330 Lawrence WF
C41-1 1888 200 C Street WF
C4l-4 1888 420 Lawrence WF w/Goth
Rev
C9-2 1889 300 E High BR
C10-1 1889 435 County Road WF
Cl10-4 1889 104 E High BR
C10-7 1889 100 County Road BR
C10-8 1889 415 County Road WF
Nicholas House
Cl4-8 c.1889 215 E 3rd BR
Cl4a-14 c.1889 308 E 3rd WF w/Gr
Rev
c37-1 1889 lot 1,2,3, WF w/Gr
Rev
C39-2 1889 102 Casey WF
C39-8 1889 122 Casey WF w/Gr
Rev
C40-7 1889 340 Lawrence WF
C41-5 1889 400 Lawrence WF
C54-1 1889 210 Casey WF
€59-1 1889 445 Roworth WF
1889-1899
Cl-16 1890 141 Nevada BR
Lampshire House
C5-5 1890 121 Eureka WF
C5-4 1890 119 Eureka BR
C5-7 1890 119 E High WF
C10-3 1890 300 St. James BR
Cl10-5 1890 106 E High BR
cl2-8 1890 217 W High WF

Cl4-1 c.1890 200 E 3rd WF w/Gr
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Rev

C18-4 1890 310 Spring WF

C18-5 1890 320 Spring WF

C19-1 1890 330 Spring WF w/Gr
Rev

C19-2 1890 340 Spring WF

C19-3 1890 350 Spring WF

Cl6-1 1890 161 Gregory WF

Cl19-4 1890 360 Spring BR

C20-4 1890 375 Roworth WF w/Rom
Clas

C20-5 1890 103 Hooper BR w/Fed
& Goth
Rev

C23-8 1890 215 Pine BR w/Rom
Rev

C23-9 1890 217 Pine WF w/GR
Rev

C23-10 1890 219 Pine WF

C24-2 1890 103 Burt WF

C25-5 1890 200 block Eureka WF

C28-6 1890 361 Eureka BR

C28-7 1890 371 Eureka WF

C28-9 1890 405 Eureka ST w/Rom

CEG-1 c.1890- 711 Eureka Gulch WF

1900

C31-1 c.1890 200 W 4th BR

C31-2 c.1890 205 W 4th WF

C39-9 1890 124 Casey WF

C40-2 1890 125 Casey WF

C42-1 1890 420 Gregory WF

C44-3 1890 341 Gregory WF

C44-3A 1890 341 Gregory WF

C44-4 1890 351 Gregory WF w/Goth
Rev

C50-2 1890 Lot 4, 5, 6, WF

C50-3 1890 Gregory WF

C50-4 1890 311 Havilah WF

Cc50-5 1890 301 Havilah WF
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C54-6 1890 301 Casey WF
C€55-2 1890 335 Spring WF
C55-3 1890 345 Spring BR
C56-1 1890 415 Spring WF w/Gr
Rev
C57-1 1890 420 Spring WF
C57-3 1890 440 Spring WF
C57-5 1890 360 Virginia WF
Canyon Rd
C58-1 1890 210 Hooper BR w/Gr
Rev
C58-2 1890 415 Roworth WF
C58-3 1890 405 Roworth WF
C58-4 1890 455 Roworth WF
C57-2 1891 430 Spring WF w/Gr
Rev
c7-1 1892 200 E High WF
Cl4-10 c.1892 214 E 3rd WF w/Gr
Rev
C54-3 1892 230 Casey WF w/Q
Anne
C44-5 1893 361 Gregory WF
C23-4 1895 115-117 Pine BR
C55-4 1895 355 Spring WF
C15-7 1896 224 E 4th WF
C21-1 1896 216 Bourian BR
C21-2 1896 218 Bourian BR w/Rom
1897 Newberry House Rev
Cl2-2 1897 203 W High BR
C23-11 221 Pine WF w/Gr
Rev
C4l1-2 1898 440 Lawrence WF
€20-2 1899 395 Roworth WF
C20-3 1899 385 Roworth WF
C20-6 c.1899 101 Hooper ST w/Ital
C28-4 1899 331 Eureka WF

1900-1918
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C7-4 1900 210 E High BR w/Goth
Rev

C7-5 1900 212 E High BR

Cc7-7 1900 216 E High WF

C8-2 1900 212 Lawrence WF

Cc8-3 1900 214 Lawrence BR w/Ital

C8-6 1900 224 Lawrence WF

C11-13 1900 229 Eureka WF

Cl12-9 1900 219 W High WF

Cl2-11 1900 223 W High WF w/Gr
Rev

Cl3-1 c.1900 424 5th WF w/Gr
Rev

Cl4-2 c.1900 202 E 3rd WF w/Gr
Rev

Cl4-12 c¢.1900 300 E 3rd WF

Cl4a-13 ¢.1900 304 E 3rd WF

c15-1 1900 415 St James WF w/Gr
Rev

Cl15-2 1900 202 E 4th BR w/Gr
Rev

Cl15-4 1900 210 E 4th WF W/Gr
Rev

Cl15-5 1900 212 E 4th WF w/Gr
Rev

C15-8 1900 234 E 4th WF w/Gr
Rev

C15-9 1900 304 E 4th WF w/Gr
Rev

Cl5-10 1900 314 E 4th WF w/Gr
Rev

C24-4 1900 107 Spruce WF

C26-1 1900 210 Prosser Log

C28-8 1900 401 Eureka WF w/Col
Rev

C30-1 c.1900 407 Eureka WF

C31-3 1900 209 W 4th WF

C31-4 1900 221 W 4th WF
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C36-2 1900 204 E 5th WF
C36-3 1900 206 E 5th
C37-2 1900 Lot 9, 10 WF w/Gr
Rev
C39-3 1900 104 Casey WF
C40-3 1900 300 Lawrence WF
C40-4 1900 310 Lawrence WF
C40-8 1900 350 Lawrence WF
C44-2 1900 331 Gregory WF w/Gr
Rev
C45-1 1900 161 Packard WF
C52-1 1900 305 Bates WF
C52-2 1900 315 Bates WF
C52-4 1900 Bates Hill WF
C53-1 1900 225 Casey WF
C54-4 1900 240 Casey WF w/Gr
Rev
C54-7 1900 325 Casey WF
C54-8 1900 335 Casey WF
C54-9 1900 340 Casey WF
C54-10 1300 350 Casey WF
C57-4 1900 Intersection WF
Virginia Canyon Rd
& Spring St
CB-1 1900 311 Casey WF
CB-2 1900 320 Casey BR w/SW
CB-3 1900 330 Casey WF/ST
Cl15-6 1902 214 E 4th WF w/Gr
Rev
C36-1 1902 202 E 5th WF
C53-2 1502 235 Casey WF
C60-1 1904 3rd, Lot EA WF
C18-6 1910 102 Colorado WF

No date of construction known
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Cl10-2 unknown 414 St. James WF
Cl4-3 unknown 3rd, Lot 5 WF
Cl4-9 unknown 210 E 3rd WF w/Rom
Rev
Cc20-1 unknown 300 Block Roworth WF
C39-12 unknown 132 Casey WF
C52-3 unknown none given LOG
B. Black Hawk

1860-1869/1870-1879: No structures

1880-1889

B14-1 1880 241 Chase WF
B26-4 1880 351 Gregory WF

B7-1 1887 197 Marchant WF

B9-1 1887 121 Marchant WF

B7-2 1888 195 Marchant WF
B15-1 1888 241 Dubois WF

B9-2 1889 111 Marchant WF w/Ital
B10-1 1889 Horn WF
B19-4 1889 150 Chase WF
B49-4 1889 331 Main WF
1890-1899

B4-1 1890 121 Hillside WF

B7-4 1890 187 Marchant WF

B7-5 1890 171 Marchant WF

B8-2 1890 151 Marchant WF

B8-4 1890 131 Marchant WF
B11-2 1890 Clear Creek WF w/